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Cooperating Attorney for ACLU Michigan
530 S. State Street

Ann Arbor, Michigan 48109

Re: #15-10-1268 and #15-10-1269
Dear Ms. Rosen:

Enclosed please find the disposition of the complaint you filed with the U.S. Department
of Education (the Department), Office for Civil Rights (OCR) on July 30, 2010, against
Napoleon Community Schools (the District) and the Jackson County Intermediate School
District (the ISD), collectively referred to in the letter as “the Recipients.” The complaint
alleged that the Recipients discriminated against the daughter of two of your clients, who
is a student with a disability (the Student), on the basis of her disability. Specifically,
your complaint alleged that the Recipients excluded the Student from and/or limited her
participation in their educational programs and activities when they refused to allow the
Student to have her trained service animal accompany her to school; and (2) the District
treated the Student differently from students without disabilities by limiting her outside
recess activities choices when students without disabilities were not required to similarly
limit their choices.

With respect to the service animal allegation, OCR found that there was sufficient
evidence to support a finding that the Recipients violated Section 504 and Title II by
failing to modify their policies, practices, or procedures to permit the Student’s service
dog to accompany her to and assist her at school, thus denying and/or significantly
limiting the Student’s ability to access the District’s programs and activities with as much
independence as possible. The Recipients have submitted an agreement to OCR to
voluntarily resolve these compliance issues despite their disagreement with OCR’s
findings.

The Department of Education’s mission is to promote student achievement and preparation for global competitiveness
by fostering educational excellence and ensuring equal access.
www.ed. gov
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With respect to the playground issue, the Recipients voluntarily entered into an
agreement with OCR prior to the completion of OCR’s investigation and issuance of any
findings.

We explain the bases for OCR’s determinations and resolution actions in the enclosed
letter to the recipients. The names of employees, students, and other parties were not
used in the letter in order to protect individuals’ privacy.

The enclosed letter sets forth OCR’s determination in an individual OCR case. The letter
is not a formal statement of OCR policy and should not be relied upon, cited, or
construed as such. OCR’s formal policy statements are approved by a duly authorized
OCR official and made available to the public. A complainant may have the right to file
a private suit in Federal court whether or not OCR finds a violation.

Should you have questions or concerns about OCR’s resolution of this complaint, please
contact Ms. Karla K. Ussery, Team Leader at (216) 522-2683 or at
Karla.Ussery@ed.gov. If you have any questions or concerns about OCR’s monitoring
of the Recipients’ implementation of the resolution agreement, please contact

Ms. Vanessa Coterel of our staff, who will be overseeing the monitoring. Ms. Coterel
can be reached at (216) 522-4974 or Vanessa.Coterel@ed.gov.

Sincerely,

Catherine D. Criswell
Director

Enclosures
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2143 Commons Parkway
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Re: OCR Docket #15-10-1268 and #15-10-1269
Dear Mr. Bullinger:

This letter is to inform you of the disposition of the above-referenced complaints filed
against the Napoleon Community Schools (the District) and the Jackson County
Intermediate School District (the ISD), which the U.S. Department of Education
(Department), Office for Civil Rights (OCR) received on July 30, 2010. The
Complainant alleged that the District and the ISD discriminated against an elementary
school student (the Student) on the basis of her disabilities. Specifically, the
Complainant alleged that: (1) the District and the ISD excluded the Student from and/or
limited her participation in their educational programs and activities when they refused to
allow the Student to have her dog, a trained service animal, accompany her to school; and
(2) the District treated the Student differently from students without disabilities by
limiting her outside recess activities choices when students without disabilities were not
required to similarly limit their choices.
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OCR is responsible for enforcing Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,

29 U.S.C. § 794, and its implementing regulation, 34 C.F.R. Part 104. Section 504
prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability by recipients of Federal financial
assistance from the Department. OCR is also responsible for enforcing Title II of the
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12131 et seq., and its implementing
regulation, 28 C.F.R. Part 35. Title II prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability
by public entities. As recipients of Federal financial assistance from the Department and
as a public school system, the District and the ISD are subject to these laws. OCR
therefore had jurisdiction to investigate this complaint.

Based on the complaint allegations, OCR investigated the following issues:

o whether the District and the ISD (collectively, the Recipients) excluded a
qualified student with a disability from participation in, denied her the benefits of,
or otherwise subjected the student to discrimination on the basis of disability in
violation of the Title II implementing regulation at 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(a) and the
Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.4(a);

o whether the Recipients afforded a qualified student with a disability an
opportunity to participate in or benefit from an aid, benefit, or service that was not
equal to that afforded to others in violation of the Title Il implementing regulation
at 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(1)(ii) and the Section 504 implementing regulation at
34 C.F.R. § 104.4(b)(1)(ii); and

e whether the District provided different or separate aids, benefits, or services to a
qualified student with a disability without such action being necessary to provide
the student with the aid, benefit, or service that is as effective as that provided to
others in violation of the Title II implementing regulation at 28 C.F. R.

§ 35.130(b)(1)(iv) and the Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R.

§ 104.4(b)(1)(v).

In conducting its investigation, OCR reviewed information and documentation provided
by both the Complainant and the Recipients. After a careful analysis, OCR has
determined that the evidence is sufficient to conclude that the Recipients excluded the
Student from and/or limited her participation in their educational programs and activities
when they refused to allow her to have her service animal accompany her in parts of the
school’s program in violation of the Title Il implementing regulation at 28 C.F.R.

§ 35.130(a) and the Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.4(a). In
addition, OCR has determined that the Recipients did not afford the Student an
opportunity to participate in or benefit from an aid, benefit, or service that was not equal
to that afforded to others in violation of the Title II implementing regulation at 28 C.F.R.
§ 35.130(b)(1)(ii) and the Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R.

§ 104.4(b)(1)(ii). With respect to the alleged different treatment regarding recess, prior to
the completion of OCR’s investigation of that issue, the Recipients asked to resolve the
complaint allegation pursuant to Section 302 of OCR’s case processing manual.
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o Summary of Case Investigation - Service Animal Allegation

The Student is eight years old and has cerebral palsy, which si gnificantly limits her motor
skills and mobility but does not impact her cognitively. For instance, she has significant
weakness in her hip, leg, and knee muscles, which affects her ability to balance herself
while using a walker. The Student also has a diagnosis of attention deficit hyperactivity
disorder (ADHD) and has a history of seizures.

During the 2009-2010 school year, the time period at issue in this complaint, the Student
was six years old and attended kindergarten at the District’s Ezra Eby Elementary School
(the School). The District placed the Student in a general education classroom with
special education supports pursuant to an Individualized Education Program (IEP). The
supports included: one-to-one paraprofessional assistance, occupational therapy, physical
therapy, speech language services, extended school year services, and resource program
services. The ISD was responsible for serving the Student through the provision of and
supervision over the special education services.

Due to the alleged disability discrimination, the Complainant did not return the Student to
the District at the start of the 2010-2011 school year or since. Instead, the Complainant
enrolled the Student in a virtual academy pending the outcome of this complaint. The
Student currently is receiving education services through the virtual academy at the first-
and second-grade level.

In May 2008, the Student’s pediatrician wrote a prescription for a service animal for the
Student. During the 2008-2009 school year, the Student’s family engaged in fundraising
activities in the School community to help secure funds to obtain the service animal, of
which the District was aware. In March 2009, the Complainant notified the District that
the family had raised the necessary funds and that the family intended to obtain a service
animal that would accompany the Student throughout the school day during the
2009-2010 school year. At that time, the Complainant also requested a copy of the
District’s policies regarding service animals. The Complainant informed OCR that the
Superintendent appeared supportive at that time and, although the principal raised some
concerns about allergies and liability, it was her understanding that the District would
permit the Student to have the service animal at school.

On October 12, 2009, the principal received a letter from the Complainant, informing him
that the Student would be missing school to go to the 10-day training with her service
animal and of the expectation that the service animal would attend school with the
Student, requesting a copy of the District’s policies regarding service animals, and
requesting a meeting to discuss transition of the service animal into the school setting. In
October 2009, the Student attended, along with the Complainant, a 10-day intensive
training at the service animal training facility where she obtained her service animal.
Prior to that time, the service animal received 10 to 12 months of training at the facility,
including training specific to the Student, based on a comprehensive application
submitted by the Student, which included a video of the Student demonstrating her
functioning in various settings and her individual needs.
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The Complainant was trained as the service animal’s handler, because the Student
currently is not physically strong enough to handle the service animal on her own. The
Student was responsible for commanding the service animal, and the handler physically
managed the service animal, including caring for its physical needs. The service animal,
the Student, and the Complainant took and passed a public access test and were certified
as a team by the training facility. The service animal must be taken back to the training
facility once each year to be retested and recertified. The Complainant indicated that,
once the Student is able to handle the service animal on her own, she and the service
animal can be recertified as a team of two. Based on Recipient records, OCR learned that
the Complainant provided the Recipients with documentation of the service animal’s
training, including a list of tasks the service animal has been trained to perform for the
Student, as well as the handler and service animal training certificates. In addition, the
Complainant provided the District with letters from the Student’s treating physicians
supporting the Student’s need for the service animal, which stated that the service animal
would increase the Student’s independence, that the service animal should be permitted
to assist the Student with mobility and transition, and that the service animal would assist
the Student in developing more independent motor skills.

According to the Complainant, when the Student returned to school on October 23, 2009,
after the training, the Complainant and the service animal dropped the Student off at her
classroom. Upon returning home, the Complainant received a telephone call from the
principal, who told her that the service animal could not accompany the Student to
school, because the principal had received complaints that other students were fearful of
the service animal and that the School needed to do more research before allowing the
service animal to attend with the Student. The District does not dispute that, in October
2009, it told the Complainant that the service animal was not allowed to accompany and
assist the Student at school and throughout the school day.

The Complainant stated that, in November 2009, she asked to be permitted to drop the
Student off at her classroom with the service animal, asserting to the Recipients that, as
the School is a public place, she had the right to do so. She stated that, starting in
December 2009, the Recipients permitted her to drop the Student off at her classroom
with the service animal on numerous occasions. According to the Complainant, during
that time, the service animal assisted the Student with taking off her coat and, on at least
one occasion, with retrieving her dropped lunchbox.

The Recipients scheduled a meeting with the Complainant, which was held on December
11, 2009. According to the Complainant, only administrators from the District and the
ISD met with the family on that date. The Complainant shared the specific tasks the
service animal was trained to do to assist the Student and the ways in which the service
animal would allow the Student to access the educational environment with increasing
independence while reducing the Student’s reliance on a human aide. The Complainant
stated that the Recipients claimed they needed documentation proving the dog was
certified as a service animal. The Complainant stated that the Recipients told her they
would take away the aide from the Student’s IEP services if the Student brought the
service animal to school. She also stated, and Recipient records revealed the
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Complainant documented in a letter to the Recipients, that the Recipients cited various
reasons during the meeting for not allowing the service animal, including concerns that
other students or faculty would have allergies; fear that other students or staff would have
phobias related to service animals; concerns about the service animal having an accident
in the building; and concerns that the service animal would be a distraction to other
students. She stated that she was also told the Student did not need a service animal
because she already had an aide. The Complainant asserts that she was told the service
animal would not be permitted to attend school with the Student for these reasons.

The Recipients, on or around January 4, 2010, received a letter from another of the
Student’s treating physicians, stating that the Student’s service animal assists the Student
with mobility issues, with the goal of increasing the Student’s independent motor skills.
The letter emphasized that the Student would continue to require an aide when using the
service animal. The Recipients held another IEP meeting for the Student on January 7,
2010. Documentation submitted by the Recipients shows that, at the January 7 meeting,
the IEP team considered whether the service animal would be permitted by examining _
whether the service animal was necessary to provide the Student with a free appropriate
public education (FAPE). The IEP team considered the Student’s ability to handle the
service animal on her own, as well as the impact of the service animal on the learning
environment. Specifically, the IEP team considered the following questions:

e What disability-related educational need is the service animal intended to
address?

e Taking into account the educational plan currently in place for the Student,
including the provision of an individual aide, will the service animal enhance or
hinder the Student’s ability to progress in the general curriculum?

e Is the Student currently capable of being responsible for the service animal?

e Given the age and maturity level of the Student and her classmates, can the
distraction created by the service animal be accommodated without comprising
the learning environment?

The IEP team concluded that the Student was being successful in school environment
without the service animal, that all of her needs were being met by the program and
services in place, and that adding the service animal would not be beneficial to the
Student. The IEP team also concluded that the Student was not entitled to utilize the
service animal at school, because an adult aide was performing the tasks the service
animal would perform for the Student. The Recipients therefore concluded that the
Student was receiving a FAPE. The Complainant signed the IEP, noting her
disagreement. At the January 7 meeting, the Complainant agreed to mediation to attempt
to resolve issues relating to the service animal. The first mediation session occurred on
January 29, 2010.
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Based on Recipient records, OCR learned that, on March 18, 2010, the physical therapist
and speech language pathologist that treat the Student outside of school submitted a letter
to the Recipients, explaining how they incorporate the service animal into the therapies
they provide the Student. Specifically, the therapists explained how the service animal
had accompanied the Student to therapy since November of 2009 and had been
incorporated into therapy in a number of ways. For example, the service animal assisted
the Student with directional control of her walker, with ambulation, and with stabilizing
herself while transitioning into and out of her walker from the floor. The Student used
the service animal as a bridge for transitioning from her walker to a standing or seated
position at a table. She also consistently used the service animal safely to improve her
sitting balance by having the service animal provide posterior support as needed. The
letter also described how the service animal was directed behind or to the side of the
Student when she was standing at a supportive surface for improved safety. Additionally,
the therapists explained that the Student used the service animal to safely pick up dropped
items. The letter stated that, although the Student still needed adult stand-by assistance
for added safety, her independence with transitioning was improving.

The parties signed a mediation agreement on March 22, 2010. As the result of the
mediated agreement, the District allowed the service animal to attend school, starting on
April 12, 2010, for a 30-day trial basis, with limitations placed on: the settings in which
the service animal could accompany the Student; the activities with which the service
animal could assist the Student; and the proximity of the service animal and the handler
to the Student, including requiring the service animal to sit in the back of the room away
from the Student. The trial period did not begin until April 12, because the Recipients
required an additional ten calendar days prior to the start of the 30-day trial period in
order to notify other students’ parents and staff about the service animal and to solicit
concerns related to the service animal from them. The trial period was extended on
May 21, 2010, to end on June 11, 2010, the last day of school.

According to a letter the Recipients’ attorney submitted to OCR on November 5, 2010, as
well as other documents submitted by the Recipients, the express purpose of the trial
period was to allow them time to evaluate and further observe the service animal, as well
as the third-party handler (i.e., the Complainant), in the school setting. During the trial
period, records kept by District staff who observed the service animal during the trial
period contain detailed notes of each time: the service animal required more than one
command or attempt to complete a task, because the service animal did not successfully
complete the task on the first try; the handler read a book or magazine, took notes, typed
on her cell phone, said anything to or responded to a staff person or another student, or
left the room to take her other child to his classroom before the bell rang; the Student did
not use the service animal when she could have used the service animal; or the Student
made a face or seemed displeased when something the service animal retrieved for her
had slobber on it. Based on Recipient records, OCR learned that, during the trial period,
the Recipients prohibited the Student from participating in school-related activities such
as a school play, “Relay for Life,” and “field day” with the service animal. Recipient
records revealed that the Recipients also prohibited the service animal from
accompanying and assisting the Student during recess, lunch, computer lab, library
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activities, and other specials, and prohibited the service animal from assisting the Student
during the provision of therapy services. Furthermore, according to letters, handwritten
notes, and emails that the Recipients submitted to OCR, the Recipients forbade the use of
the service animal for certain tasks that the service animal had been specifically trained to
do, such as assisting the Student with toileting. In order for the Student to be allowed to
use the service animal for toileting, the Recipients required that she demonstrate her use
of the service animal while using the toilet, with the stall door open and four adults
observing, which embarrassed her.

The School principal kept a handwritten log of parent and staff concerns expressed about
the service animal, which the Recipients submitted to OCR along with emails received
about the service animal. These showed that one teacher and two students were
reportedly allergic to dog dander, one teacher had a phobia about dogs, and one parent
expressed concern about her child being in the presence of a dog, because the child had
been attacked by a dog several years before. Four parents submitted concerns that the
service animal might be a distraction to other students, although only two of the parents’
children were in the same classroom as the Student.

The Recipients documented that the service animal barked on one occasion and growled
on another occasion while at the School. The growling incident occurred just after school
had ended and students were being released. The barking incident also occurred at the
end of the school day. Based on Recipient records, OCR learned that the barking
occurred when the service animal saw two boys roughhousing. The Complainant told
OCR, and documentation submitted by the Recipients confirms, that she told the service
animal to stop on each of these occasions and that he remained under her control.

According to letters Recipients submitted to OCR, including a letter, dated November 5,
2010, from the Recipients’ attorney, the Recipients’ position is that they are not required
to permit the service animal to accompany and assist the Student, because they are
meeting all of the Student’s educational needs through the provision of an aide. They do
not acknowledge the dog as a service animal; one articulated reason for this position at
the time the OCR opened the complaint was that the Student could not handle the dog on
her own. The Complainant contends that the service animal provides the Student with
increased independence and that the Recipients’ refusal to allow the service animal to
accompany and assist the Student at school denies the Student equal access to the
Recipients’ program by not allowing her to increase her independence and by forcing her
to rely on an aide instead of decreasing her reliance on others.

During its investigation, OCR reviewed the District’s policy with respect to service
animals (the Policy) that was provided by the District. This policy is titled “Guidelines—
Office of the Superintendent, Napoleon Community Schools,” with the heading “Access
to Equal Educational Opportunity.” The guidelines are four pages long, and only one
provision, under “Facilities,” discusses “guide dogs.” The Policy requires students
seeking to utilize a guide dog to assist the student at school facilities, events, and
programs to provide evidence of the dog’s certification for that purpose. The Policy also
states that proof of liability insurance must be provided if a dog is still in training.
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OCR identified numerous compliance concerns with the Policy. For example, the
District’s policy does not contain a definition of “service animal” and, instead, uses the
more limited term “guide dog.” Additionally, the Policy requires a student seeking to use
a service dog in the school environment to provide documentation of the dog’s
certification, whereas the Title II regulation explicitly states that public entities cannot
require documentation, such as proof that the animal has been certified, trained, or
licensed as a service animal. Moreover, the Policy does not specify the permissible
inquires that a public entity can make and the circumstance in which the public entity
may not make inquiries, such as when it is readily apparent that an animal is trained to do
work or perform tasks for an individual with a disability. The Policy also does not
specify the circumstances in which the service animal may be properly excluded,
including the proper inquiries that must be made when the District believes a service
animal presents a direct threat to others.

e Applicable Legal Standards

OCR is responsible for enforcing Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,

29 U.S.C. § 794, and its implementing regulation, 34 C.F.R. Part 104, as well as Title II
of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12131 ef seq., and its
implementing regulation, 28 C.F.R. Part 35, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of
disability by recipients of Federal financial assistance from the Department and by public
entities, respectively. As recipients of such financial assistance and as public institutions,
the Recipients are subject to these laws. Title II is not to be construed to provide a lesser
standard than the standards applied under Section 504. The Title II regulation in effect at
the beginning of the events at issue in this complaint has since been amended. The new
Title II regulation took effect on March 15, 2011.

The Section 504 regulation, at 34 C.F.R. § 104.33, requires a recipient school district to
provide a free appropriate public education (FAPE) to each qualified individual with a
disability within its jurisdiction, regardless of the nature or severity of the individual's
disability. A FAPE is defined as the provision of regular or special education and related
aids and services that are designed to meet the individual educational needs of individuals
with disabilities as adequately as the needs of individuals without disabilities are met and
which have been developed in accordance with process requirements of 34 C.F.R.

§§ 104.34 (educational setting), 104.35 (evaluation and placement), and 104.36
(procedural safeguards). In conformance with Appendix A of the Section 504
implementing regulation, it is OCR’s policy that, except in extraordinary circumstances,
OCR does not review the results of individual placement decisions or resolve disputes
over the content of education plans, so long as the procedural requirements of the Section
504 regulation regarding identification, evaluation, placement, and procedural safeguards
are met.
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As a general rule, a school district’s responsibilities to students with disabilities in the
elementary and secondary setting may be satisfied through adherence to Section 504
FAPE procedures. However, there are situations in which a student with a disability may
allege disability discrimination that is properly analyzed as a question of alleged different
treatment, program exclusion, or failure to provide equal opportunity on the basis of
disability under the Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. §§ 104.4(a) and (b)
and the Title IT implementing regulation at 28 C.F.R. §§ 35.130(a) and (b) and/or as a
denial of a reasonable modification under the Title IT implementing regulation at

28 C.F.R. § 35.130(b)(7).

In some circumstances, Title IT provides greater protections than Section 504 for persons
with disabilities. Both the current Title II regulation and the former Title II regulation,
which was in effect at the time of the Recipients’ alleged non-compliance, prohibit
recipient and public school districts from, on the basis of disability, excluding a qualified
person with a disability from participating in, denying a student with the benefits of, or
otherwise subjecting a student to discrimination under any district program or activity. In
~ addition, both the current and former Title II regulations require public entities to make
reasonable modifications to policies, practices, or procedures when such modifications
are necessary to avoid discrimination on the basis of disability, unless the public entity
can demonstrate that making the modification would fundamentally alter the nature of the
service, program, or activity.

Despite the lack of a specific provision in the former Title II regulation, the U.S.
Department of Justice (DOJ) had taken the position that the ADA required schools,
including those responsible for elementary and secondary education, to allow individuals
with disabilities to be accompanied by service animals except for rare instances in which
the animals’ actual behavior poses a direct threat to the safety of others or results in a
fundamental alteration of the nature of a program.

The current Title II regulation clarifies that public entities must modify polices, practices,
or procedures to permit the use of a service animal by an individual with a disability. The
regulation implementing Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 in effect
at the same time of the former Title II regulation and therefore during the time at issue in
this complaint defined “service animal” as any guide dog or other animal individually
trained to do work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability,
including, but not limited to, guiding individuals with impaired vision, alerting
individuals with impaired hearing to intruders or sounds, providing minimal protection or
rescue work, pulling a wheelchair, or fetching dropped items.

Under the former and the current Title II regulation, a public entity is required to permit
an individual with a disability to be accompanied by the individual’s service animal in all
areas of a public entity’s facilities where members of the public; participants in services,
programs, or activities; or invitees, as relevant, are allowed to go. In addition, a public
entity is not permitted to ask about the nature or extent of a person’s disability or require
documentation, such as proof that the animal has been certified, trained, or licensed as a
service animal. If it is not readily appare